Alberta Public Health Disease Management Guidelines

Hepatitis E

Albertan

This publication is issued under the Open Government Licence – Alberta (<u>http://open.alberta.ca/licence</u>). Please note that the terms of this licence do not apply to any third-party materials included in this publication.

This publication is available online at https://open.alberta.ca/publications/hepatitis-e

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without written permission of Alberta Health, Government of Alberta.

© Copyright of this document and its contents belongs to the Government of Alberta.

For further information on the use of this guideline contact:

Health.CD@gov.ab.ca Health and Wellness Promotion Branch Public Health and Compliance Branch Alberta Health

Hepatitis E | Alberta Health, Government of Alberta © 2021 Government of Alberta | October 2021

Contents

Case Definition	4
Confirmed Case	4
Probable Acute Case	4
Probable Chronic Case	4
Reporting Requirements	5
Physicians, Health Practitioners and others	5
Laboratories	5
Alberta Health Services and First Nations and Inuit Health Branch	5
Epidemiology	6
Etiology	6
Clinical Presentation	6
Diagnosis	6
Treatment	6
Reservoir	7
Transmission	7
Incubation Period	7
Period of Communicability	7
Host Susceptibility	7
Incidence	8
Public Health Management	9
Key Investigation	9
Management of a Case	10
Management of Contacts	11
Preventive Measures	11
Appendix 1: Revision History	12
References	13

Case Definition

Confirmed Case

Laboratory confirmation with clinical illness^(A) in the absence of other infectious causes of hepatitis:^(B)

• Positive Anti-HEV IgM with an IgG seroconversion in an appropriate clinical sample (e.g., serum) tested at least four to six weeks apart

OR

• Detection of HEV nucleic acid (e.g., PCR) in an appropriate clinical sample (e.g., stool, serum)

Probable Acute Case

One of the following with clinical illness:(A)

• A single positive anti-HEV IgM and absence of other infectious causes of hepatitis and exposure history(C)

OR

• Epidemiologically linked to a confirmed case

Probable Chronic Case

Laboratory confirmation with clinical illness^(A)

 Detection of HEV nucleic acid (e.g., PCR) in an appropriate clinical sample (e.g., stool, serum) persisting for at least six months.⁽¹⁾

⁽A) Clinical illness is characterized by elevated alanine aminotransferase (ALT), discrete onset of symptoms and jaundice or elevated serum aminotransferase levels.

^(B) Testing should be done to rule out other infectious causes of hepatitis: IgM anti-HAV negative, IgM anti-HBc negative (if done) or HbsAg negative and anti-HCV negative.

^(C) Exposure history: refer to <u>Transmission</u> and <u>Incidence</u> sections.

Reporting Requirements

Physicians, Health Practitioners and others

Physicians, health practitioners and others shall notify notify the Medical Officer of Health (MOH) (or designate) of the zone, of all <u>confirmed</u> and <u>probable</u> cases in the prescribed form by mail, fax or electronic transfer within 48 hours (two business days).

Laboratories

All laboratories shall report all positive laboratory results by mail, fax or electronic transfer within 48 hours (two business days) to the:

- MOH (or designate) of the zone, and
- the Chief Medical Officer of Health (CMOH) (or designate).

Alberta Health Services and First Nations and Inuit Health Branch

- The MOH (or designate) of the zone where the case currently resides shall forward the initial Notifiable Disease Report (NDR) of all <u>confirmed</u> and <u>probable</u> cases to the CMOH (or designate) within two weeks of notification and the final NDR (amendment) within four weeks of notification.
- For out-of-province and out-of-country reports, the following information should be forwarded to the CMOH (or designate) by phone, fax or electronic transfer within 48 hours (two business days) including:
 - name,
 - date of birth,
 - out-of-province health care number,
 - out-of-province address and phone number,
 - positive laboratory report, and
 - other relevant clinical/epidemiological information.

Epidemiology

Etiology

Hepatitis E, a non-enveloped RNA virus (HEV), is classified within the genus Hepevirus of the family *Hepeviridae*.^(2,3) While HEV comprises a single serotype, there are eight known genotypes (G1–8) found in human and other species.^(4,5)

Clinical Presentation

Hepatitis E infection is similar in presentation to hepatitis A infection and, depending upon the infectious dose, ranges from asymptomatic to non-specific symptoms (e.g., fatigue, itching, nausea) in the **prodromal phase**.^(2,6,7) Dark urine and/or jaundice and elevated liver enzymes occur a few days later in the **icteric phase**. Most individuals recover completely; however, a small number can develop prolonged viremia and acute liver failure (fulminant hepatitis).

The mortality rate of hepatitis E infection ranges from 0.1-4%.^(8,9) Re-infection with HEV is possible.⁽⁴⁾

Women who acquire hepatitis E during pregnancy are at higher risk of fulminant hepatitis than men or non-pregnant women.^(9–12) The mortality rate for fulminant hepatitis (mainly due to genotype 1) may reach up to 25% in pregnant women in the third trimester. Other obstetrical complications include intrauterine fetal death, preterm delivery, stillbirth, prematurity and low birth weight, making HEV the most severe hepatitis virus in pregnancy.

Chronic hepatitis E infections (lasting more than six months) have been reported in immunosuppressed persons, especially those with solid organ transplants or who have HIV, lymphoma or leukemia.^(8,9) Genotype 3, and to a lesser extent genotype4, are associated with chronic infections in this group of patients.⁽⁴⁾

Extrahepatic manifestations have been reported, such as acute glomerulonephritis, pancreatitis and neurological disorders (e.g., Guillain-Barré syndrome, Bell's palsy, neurologic amyotrophy and acute transverse myelitis). particularly in immunocompromised persons with chronic infections.^(1,8,13–15)

Diagnosis

HEV IgM antibody can be detected one to four weeks after the onset of clinical symptoms and persist for about three months.⁽¹⁶⁾ The demonstration of HEV IgM antibody (anti-HEV IgM) in the serum of acutely or recently ill persons is also useful for diagnosis, but due to the probability of false positives more than one test is required for definitive diagnosis. It is recommended that a follow-up specimen is collected four to six weeks later.

Definitive diagnosis of hepatitis E is made by demonstrating viral RNA in serum or stool by means of reverse transcriptasepolymerase chain reaction assay (RT-PCR).^(D) A rise of IgG antibody titres (in the absence of another viral hepatitis) in a second sample collected approximately four to six weeks after the first sample will also confirm infection.⁽¹⁶⁾ HEV IgG appears about 30 days after the initial infection by the virus and peaks two to four weeks after onset of clinical hepatitis. HEV IgG response is long-lasting, but it is currently unclear how long it lasts and whether sero-reversion may occur after many years. There is strong cross-reactivity between HEV genotypes 1–4.

Treatment

- In general, there is no specific therapy; treatment is supportive.
- Antiviral treatment may be required for people with pre-existing liver disease or immunosuppression.⁽²⁾
- Currently, liver transplantation is the only valid treatment available for patients with fulminant hepatic failure.⁽⁸⁾

^(D) PCR testing is restricted to certain cases (e.g., transplant patients) and should be discussed with the Virologist-on-call at the <u>Public Health</u> <u>Laboratory (ProvLab)</u> prior to ordering.

Reservoir

HEV genotypes 1 and 2 are found exclusively in humans,^(4,5) whereas genotypes 3 and 4 are more commonly found in pigs, wild boar, shellfish, and deer. Genotypes 5 and 6 have only been reported in boar meat, while genotypes 7 and 8 have been identified in camel meat and milk.⁽¹⁷⁾

Transmission

HEV is transmitted in endemic countries via fecal-oral route, mainly by contaminated drinking water;⁽¹⁸⁾ genotypes 1 and 2 are the causative agents.

Person-to-person transmission is considered rare and much less frequent than for hepatitis A, with household secondary attack rates of HEV estimated to be 0.7–2.2%, as compared with 50–70% for HAV.^(3,19–22)

Other reported routes of transmission include blood transfusion, solid organ transplantation and vertical transmission.^(16,23–27) In Canada, infections from blood donations are rare.⁽²⁸⁾

HEV has a 50% vertical transmission rate.^(11,29) There is no reliable data on whether asymptomatic hepatitis E infection may influence pregnancy outcomes.⁽⁸⁾ The risk of transmission of HEV via breastmilk is increased if the mother has acute hepatic disease or an increased viral load.^(29–33)

Cooking meat at 71°C for 20 minutes or heating water to 60°C for a few minutes has been shown to inactivate HEV.^(7,34,35) Although there is no direct evidence that chlorine inactivates HEV, several large outbreaks of HEV in other countries have been related to failure of chlorination.^(18,36–38)

Incubation Period

The incubation period of HEV is 26-42 days but can range from 15-64 days.⁽³⁾

Period of Communicability

The period of communicability of HEV is not known; however, infected persons have been shown to excrete the virus approximately one week prior to onset to up to four weeks after the onset of jaundice.^(18,24,39,40) Individuals who are immunocompromised or have a chronic infection can shed the virus as long as they are infected, sometimes six months or longer.^(39,41)

Viremia does not necessarily equate with infectivity, although this continues to be under investigation. Maximal viral shedding occurs during the incubation period and the early stages of acute illness. The infectious dose is unknown.

Host Susceptibility

Hepatitis E infection occurs most frequently among displaced persons and refugees due to the nature of their living conditions (e.g., overcrowding, poor hygiene), as well as travellers from developed countries to areas where HEV is endemic.⁽⁹⁾

Disease is more severe in the following: (9,42)

- pregnant women in the third trimester,
- persons with pre-existing liver disease, and
- immunosuppressed persons (e.g., organ or stem cell transplant recipients, HIV-infected patients with low CD4 cell counts).

In developed countries, though much more rare, numerous studies have identified an increased risk of autochthonous infection among older males (average age of 60) that may have a history of excessive alcohol consumption with or without liver damage.^(43–47)

Incidence

Hepatitis E infection is not notifiable nationally. It is uncommon in Alberta and generally occurs in people who have travelled to or recently emigrated from an endemic country.

A number of developed countries, including Canada, have reported the presence of HEV antibodies in commercial swine populations and HEV RNA in food products containing raw pork and pig liver.^(26,48–57) However, the risk of acquiring HEV from exposure to pigs or pork in Canada is considered to be small.⁽⁵²⁾

Hepatitis E is endemic to subtropical and tropical countries in Asia, Africa and Central America.⁽⁵⁸⁾ In developing countries, HEV is the most common cause of viral hepatitis reported and water-borne outbreaks are common.⁽⁵⁹⁾

In developed countries, local hepatitis E infection and outbreaks are rare. Genotypes 1 and 2 are commonly the source of outbreaks affecting youths and adults in endemic countries.⁽⁸⁾ In non-endemic areas, genotype 3 infections are more commonly reported in middle-aged and elderly males.

Public Health Management

Key Investigation

- Confirm that the individual meets the case definition.
- Obtain a history of illness including the date of onset, signs and symptoms. For the purpose of public health follow-up, date of onset is the first day of prodromal phase **OR** the seventh day prior to the onset of jaundice, if prodrome is not known (See <u>Clinical Presentation</u> for more information).
 - Determine the dates of communicability (period of infectiousness).
 - Identify any underlying medical conditions that may increase host susceptibility.
- Determine the occupation of the case (e.g., food handler, childcare facility worker, health care worker) and identify specific duties at work that may pose a risk of transmission to others. Refer to <u>Table 1</u> for more information on sensitive situations and occupations (SSO).
- Determine the possible source of infection, taking into consideration the incubation period, reservoir, and mode of transmission. Assessment may include:
 - a history of recent travel or immigration, especially in areas with poor sanitation including improper water treatment and sewage disposal,
 - a detailed food history, especially consumption of contaminated ice/water, uncooked or undercooked food (especially pork products) or food washed in contaminated water,
 - a history of risk behaviours including lifestyle risks for infection (e.g., men who have sex with men, injection drug use),
 - whether the case attends a childcare facility or other type of institutional setting (e.g., living in a correctional facility or residential/institutional setting),
 - whether there was any contact with a confirmed case of HEV or contact with an ill person who had symptoms that were clinically compatible with hepatitis E infection,
 - a history of blood or blood product transfusion, or organ transplantation during the incubation period, and
 - similar symptoms in other members of the household (historical and present).
- Identify contacts, including those in SSO that may pose a risk of transmission to others, who may have had exposure to
 the feces of the case during the period that the case was infectious (period of communicability). Refer to <u>Table 1</u> for more
 information on SSO. Contacts include:
 - persons living in the household,
 - children and child care workers in a day care/day home, and
 - individuals exposed to the same source (if identified).

Table 1: Sensitive Situations or Occupations (SSO)

SSO	Definition	
Food handler	 Touches unwrapped food to be consumed, <u>and/or</u> Handles equipment or utensils that touch unwrapped food to be consumed.* 	
Health care, child care or other staff	Has contact through serving food to highly susceptible persons.Provides direct patient care and is involved in the care of young children, elderly or dependent persons.	
Child attending a childcare facility or similar facilities	Is diapered or unable to implement good standards of personal hygiene.	
Any individual (older child or adult) attending a public placeIs unable to implement good standards of personal hygiene (e.g., those with disabilities/cl may impact ability to perform good hand hygiene) and is involved in an activity that may p disease transmission.		

* NOTE: Generally, food handlers who do not touch food, equipment or utensils in this way are not considered to pose a transmission risk; however, circumstances for each case should be assessed on an individual basis.

Management of a Case

- Consultation with an Infectious Disease Specialist is recommended.
- All cases should be advised:
 - about appropriate personal hygiene, disease transmission, routine infection prevention and control practices, and contact precautions,
 - to avoid food preparation for others until symptoms have resolved, and
 - to avoid sexual practices that facilitate fecal-oral transmission.
- In health care settings, if children or adults have poor hygiene or incontinence that cannot be contained, contact precautions should be used for at least one week after the onset of jaundice.⁽²⁰⁾
- Pregnant cases should be referred to their OB/GYN to discuss potential risks to mother and fetus.
- Breastfeeding women should be advised that:⁽²⁹⁾
 - if they are asymptomatic, breastfeeding is considered safe, and
 - if they are symptomatic (with acute hepatic disease), breastfeeding is not recommended.
- Advise the case to refrain from preparing food for others during the period of communicability.
- Case should refrain from donating blood for 14 days after the onset of symptoms, unless diagnosed with chronic infection (more than six months).
- Notify and involve the Environmental Health Officer when a food source is suspected.
- Refer to Table 2 for case exclusion criteria.

Table 2: Case Exclusion

Cases	Category	Exclusion Criteria	
Symptomatic	SSO	• The MOH may by order exclude a symptomatic case until diarrhea has resolved and for at least seven days after the onset of jaundice or at least 14 days after the initial onset of symptoms, whichever comes earlier.*	
Asymptomatic	SSO	 No exclusion - cases should monitor themselves for gastrointestinal symptoms, maintain good hand hygiene and food handling practices and seek medical attention if symptoms develop. 	
Symptomatic	Non-SSO	 No exclusion required; however cases should remain home from work, school or daycare while they are acutely ill. Refer to their physician for assessment. 	
Asymptomatic	Non-SSO	No exclusion required however, if symptoms develop they should be told to seek their physician for assessment.	

*Specimens may still be submitted as determined by the MOH on a case-by-case basis.

Management of Contacts

- Assess all contacts (see <u>Key Investigation</u> section), including visitors to the household, for potential of exposure during period of communicability.
- Provide information about HEV infection and to seek medical attention if symptoms should develop.
- Refer **<u>symptomatic</u>** contacts for serology for anti-HEV IgG and anti-HEV IgM.
- Refer to Table 3 for contact exclusion criteria.

Table 3: Contact Exclusion

Contacts	Category	Exclusion Criteria	
Symptomatic	SSO	• The MOH may by order exclude until contact has been assessed by a physician to rule out disease.	
Asymptomatic	SSO	 No exclusion is required. Contacts should be told to monitor themselves for gastrointestinal symptoms, maintain good hand hygiene and food handling practices and seek medical attention if symptoms develop. 	
Symptomatic	Non-SSO	No exclusion – refer to health care provider for assessment, as indicated.	
Asymptomatic	Non-SSO	• No exclusion – contacts should monitor themselves for gastrointestinal symptoms, maintain good hand hygiene and food handling practices and seek medical attention if symptoms develop.	

Preventive Measures

- Currently, there is no vaccine licensed in Canada for hepatitis E infection.
- Educate the public about.
 - taking precautions (avoiding improperly cooked foods, unpasteurized milk/milk products, tap water, ice cubes, unpeeled fruits and uncooked vegetables) when travelling to endemic areas where HEV is known to occur,⁽³⁾
 - personal hygiene, especially the sanitary disposal of items containing feces,
 - careful hand washing before/after preparing or eating food, and after defecation and sexual contact,
 - washing cutting boards, counter tops and utensils with soap and water after contact with raw meat (and other foods of animal origin), and
 - the risk of sexual practices that permit fecal-oral contact.
- Individuals that handle raw pork and swine products (e.g., pig handlers, butchers, abattoir workers and veterinarians) who may be exposed to HEV need to ensure they take hygienic measures after contact with animals.⁽²¹⁾

Appendix 1: Revision History

Revision Date	Document Section	Description of Revision
December 2019	Case Definition	• To Confirmed Case added "in the absence of other infectious causes of hepatitis"
		 To Confirmed Case added IgM with IgG seroconversion
		Added Probable Chronic HEV Cases
	Reporting Requirements	No change
	Rest of guideline	• New
October 2021	General	Updated Template
		Diagnosis and Treatment section moved to Epidemiology

References

- 1. Kamar N, Izopet J, Dalton HR. Chronic hepatitis E virus infection and treatment. J Clin Exp Hepatol [Internet]. Elsevier Ltd; 2013;3(2):134–40. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jceh.2013.05.003
- 2. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Facts about hepatitis E [Internet]. 2017. Available from: ecdc.europa.eu/en/hepatitis-e/facts
- 3. Heymann D, editor. Control of Communicable Diseases Manual. 20th ed. Washington, D.C.: American Public Health Association; 2015.
- Dalton HR, Kamar N, Baylis SA, Moradpour D, Wedemeyer H, Negro F, et al. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines on hepatitis E virus infection q. 2018;68:1256–71. Available from: www.journal-of-hepatology.eu/article/S0168-8278(18)30155-7/pdf
- Smith DB, Simmonds P, International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses Hepeviridae Study Group members of the IC on the T of VHS, Jameel S, Emerson SU, Harrison TJ, et al. Consensus proposals for classification of the family Hepeviridae. J Gen Virol [Internet]. Microbiology Society; 2014 Oct;95(Pt 10):2223–32. Available from: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24989172
- 6. Remy P. Hepatitis E [Internet]. 2016. Available from: emedicine.medscape.com/article/178140-overview
- 7. World Health Orgranization (WHO). Waterborne outbreaks of hepatitis e: 2014;
- 8. Mirazo S, Ramos N, Mainardi V, Gerona S, Arbiza J. Transmission, diagnosis, and management of hepatitis E: an update. Hepat Med [Internet]. 2014;6:45–59. Available from: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4051621/
- World Health Orgranization (WHO). Hepatitis E vaccine: WHO position paper. Wkly Epidemiol Rec. 2015;90(18):185– 200.
- 10. Hakim MS, Wang W, Bramer WM, Geng J, Huang F, de Man RA, et al. The global burden of hepatitis E outbreaks: a systematic review. Liver Int. 2017;37(1):19–31.
- 11. Khuroo MS, Teli MR, Skidmore S, Sofi MA, Khuroo MI. Incidence and severity of viral hepatitis in pregnancy. Am J Med [Internet]. 1981 Feb;70(2):252–5. Available from: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6781338
- 12. Patra S, Kumar A, Trivedi SS, Puri M, Sarin SK. Maternal and Fetal Outcomes in Pregnant Women with Acute Hepatitis E Virus Infection. Ann Intern Med [Internet]. American College of Physicians; 2007 Jul 3;147(1):28. Available from: annals.org/article.aspx?doi=10.7326/0003-4819-147-1-200707030-00005
- 13. Kamar N, Bendall RP, Peron JM, Cintas P, Prudhomme L, Mansuy JM, et al. Hepatitis E virus and neurologic disorders. Emerg Infect Dis. 2011;17(2):173–9.
- Arends JE, Ghisetti V, Irving W, Dalton HR, Izopet J, Hoepelman AIM, et al. Hepatitis E: An emerging infection in high income countries. J Clin Virol [Internet]. Elsevier; 2014 Feb 1;59(2):81–8. Available from: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24388207
- 15. van den Berg B, van der Eijk AA, Pas SD, Hunter JG, Madden RG, Tio-Gillen AP, et al. Guillain-Barré syndrome associated with preceding hepatitis E virus infection. Neurology [Internet]. Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. on behalf of the American Academy of Neurology; 2014 Feb 11;82(6):491–7. Available from: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24415572
- 16. Seitz R. Hepatitis e Virus: German Advisory Committee Blood (Arbeitskreis Blut), Subgroup "Assessment of Pathogens Transmissible by Blood." Transfus Med Hemotherapy. 2015;42(4):247–65.
- Lee G-H, Tan B-H, Chi-Yuan Teo E, Lim S-G, Dan Y-Y, Wee A, et al. Chronic Infection With Camelid Hepatitis E Virus in a Liver Transplant Recipient Who Regularly Consumes Camel Meat and Milk. Gastroenterology [Internet]. Elsevier; 2016 Feb 1;150(2):355-357.e3. Available from: linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0016508515015851

- 18. World Health Organization (WHO). Hepatitis E [Internet]. 2018. Available from: www.who.int/news-room/factsheets/detail/hepatitis-e
- 19. Aggarwal R, Naik SR. Hepatitis E: intrafamilial transmission versus waterborne spread. J Hepatol [Internet]. 1994 Nov;21(5):718–23. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7890884
- 20. American Academy of Pediatrics. Hepatitis E. In: Kimberlin, DW; Brady, MT; Jackson, MA; Long S, editor. 2018-2021 Report of the Committee of Infectious Diseases. 31st ed. Itasca, IL: American Academy of Pediatrics; 2018. p. 436–7.
- 21. Pérez-Gracia MT, García M, Suay B, Mateos-Lindemann ML. Current Knowledge on Hepatitis E. J Clin Transl Hepatol [Internet]. 2015;3(2):117–26. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4548356/
- 22. Somani SK, Aggarwal R, Naik SR, Srivastava S, Naik S. A serological study of intrafamilial spread from patients with sporadic hepatitis E virus infection. J Viral Hepat [Internet]. 2003 Nov;10(6):446–9. Available from: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14633178
- 23. Aggarwal R. The Global Prevalence of Hepatitis E Virus Infection and Susceptibility: A Systematic Review. Dep Immunization, Vaccines Biol World Heal Organ [Internet]. 2010;1–308. Available from: www.who.int/vaccines-documents/
- 24. Balayart MS, Andjaparidze AG, Savinskaya SS, Ketiladze E., Braginsky DM, Savinov AP, et al. Evidence for a Virus in Non-A, Non-B Hepatitis Transmitted via the Fecal-Oral Route. Intervirology [Internet]. 1983;20(1):23–31. Available from: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6409836
- 25. Boxall E, Herborn A, Kochethu G, Pratt G, Adams D, Ijaz S, et al. Transfusion-transmitted hepatitis E in a "nonhyperendemic" country. Transfus Med [Internet]. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd (10.1111); 2006 Apr 1;16(2):79–83. Available from: doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1365-3148.2006.00652.x
- Colson P, Romanet P, Moal V, Borentain P, Purgus R, Benezech A, et al. Autochthonous infections with hepatitis E virus genotype 4, France. [Internet]. Emerging infectious diseases. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2012. p. 1361–4. Available from: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22840196
- 27. Government of Canada. Pathogen Safety Data Sheets: Hepatitis E Virus [Internet]. 2011. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/laboratory-biosafety-biosecurity/pathogen-safety-data-sheets-riskassessment/hepatitis-e-virus.html
- 28. Fearon MA, O'Brien SF, Delage G, Scalia V, Bernier F, Bigham M, et al. Hepatitis E in Canadian blood donors. Transfusion [Internet]. 2017;57(6):1420–5. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28394029
- Chaudhry SA, Verma N, Koren G. Hepatitis E infection during pregnancy. Can Fam Physician [Internet]. 2015;61(7):607– 8. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4501603&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract
- Rana Ali MKP. Hepatitis E Virus Cross-Reactivity and False-Seropositivity: Challenges to Diagnosis. J Liver [Internet]. 2014;03(2):4172. Available from: http://www.omicsgroup.org/journals/hepatitis-e-virus-crossreactivity-andfalseseropositivity-challenges-to-diagnosis-1000e109.php?aid=25660
- 31. Chibber R, Usmani MA, Al-Sibai M. Should HEV infected mothers breast feed? Arch Gynecol Obstet [Internet]. 2004 Jul 16;270(1):15–20. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12698262
- 32. Kumar RM, Uduman S, Rana S, Kochiyil JK, Usmani A, Thomas L. Sero-prevalence and mother-to-infant transmission of hepatitis E virus among pregnant women in the United Arab Emirates. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol [Internet]. 2001 Dec 10;100(1):9–15. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11728649
- 33. Rivero-Juarez A, Frias M, Rodriguez-Cano D, Cuenca-López F, Rivero A. Isolation of Hepatitis E Virus From Breast Milk During Acute Infection: Table 1. Clin Infect Dis [Internet]. Narnia; 2016 Jun 1;62(11):1464.2-1464. Available from: academic.oup.com/cid/article-lookup/doi/10.1093/cid/ciw186

Public Health Disease Management Guidelines | Hepatitis E

- 34. Emerson SU, Arankalle VA, Purcell RH. Thermal Stability of Hepatitis E Virus. J Infect Dis [Internet]. 2005 Sep 1;192(5):930–3. Available from: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16088844
- 35. Barnaud E, Rogée S, Garry P, Rose N, Pavio N. Thermal inactivation of infectious hepatitis E virus in experimentally contaminated food. Appl Environ Microbiol [Internet]. American Society for Microbiology; 2012 Aug 1;78(15):5153–9. Available from: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22610436
- 36. Al-Nasrawi KK, Al Diwan JK, Al-Hadithi TS, Saleh AM. Viral hepatitis E outbreak in Al-Sadr city, Baghdad, Iraq. East Mediterr Health J [Internet]. 2010 Nov;16(11):1128–32. Available from: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21218735
- Belabbes EH, Bouguermouh A, Benatallah A, Illoul G. Epidemic non-A, non-B viral hepatitis in Algeria: strong evidence for its spreading by water. J Med Virol [Internet]. 1985 Jul;16(3):257–63. Available from: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3928807
- Naik SR, Aggarwal R, Salunke PN, Mehrotra NN. A large waterborne viral hepatitis E epidemic in Kanpur, India. Bull World Health Organ [Internet]. World Health Organization; 1992;70(5):597–604. Available from: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1464145
- 39. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Hepatitis E Questions and Answers for Health Professionals [Internet]. 2018. Available from: www.cdc.gov/hepatitis/hev/hevfaq.htm#section2
- 40. Chauhan A, Jameel S, Dilawari JB, Chawla YK, Kaur U, Ganguly NK. Hepatitis E virus transmission to a volunteer. Lancet (London, England) [Internet]. 1993 Jan 16;341(8838):149–50. Available from: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8093748
- 41. Tavitian S, Péron J-M, Huynh A, Mansuy J-M, Ysebaert L, Huguet F, et al. Hepatitis E virus excretion can be prolonged in patients with hematological malignancies. J Clin Virol [Internet]. 2010 Oct;49(2):141–4. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20678959
- 42. Kamar N, Selves J, Mansuy J-M, Ouezzani L, Péron J-M, Guitard J, et al. Hepatitis E Virus and Chronic Hepatitis in Organ-Transplant Recipients. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2008;358(8):811–7. Available from: http://www.nejm.org/doi/abs/10.1056/NEJMoa0706992
- 43. Ohio Hep E case definition. 2014;1–5.
- 44. Ijaz S, Arnold E, Banks M, Bendall RP, Cramp ME, Cunningham R, et al. Non–Travel-Associated Hepatitis E in England and Wales: Demographic, Clinical, and Molecular Epidemiological Characteristics. J Infect Dis [Internet]. 2005 Oct 1;192(7):1166–72. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16136458
- 45. Kamar N, Dalton HR, Abravanel F, Izopet J. Hepatitis E virus infection. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2014;27(1):116-38.
- 46. Dalton HR, Bendall RP, Rashid M, Ellis V, Ali R, Ramnarace R, et al. Host risk factors and autochthonous hepatitis E infection. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol [Internet]. 2011 Nov;23(12):1200–5. Available from: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21941192
- 47. Mansuy JM, Peron JM, Abravanel F, Poirson H, Dubois M, Miedouge M, et al. Hepatitis E in the south west of France in individuals who have never visited an endemic area. J Med Virol [Internet]. 2004 Nov;74(3):419–24. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15368508
- 48. Pavio N, Merbah T, Thébault A. Frequent hepatitis E virus contamination in food containing raw pork liver, France. Emerg Infect Dis [Internet]. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2014 Nov;20(11):1925–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25340373
- 49. Clemente-Casares P, Ramos-Romero C, Ramirez-Gonzalez E, Mas A. Hepatitis E Virus in Industrialized Countries: The Silent Threat. Biomed Res Int [Internet]. Hindawi Limited; 2016;2016. Available from: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28070522

Public Health Disease Management Guidelines | Hepatitis E

- 50. Berto A, Martelli F, Grierson S, Banks M. Hepatitis E Virus in Pork Food Chain , United Kingdom, 2009-2010. Emerg Infect Dis [Internet]. 2012;18(8). Available from: http://dx.doi.org/eid1808.111647
- Renou C, Roque-Afonso A-M, Afonso A-MR, Pavio N. Foodborne transmission of hepatitis E virus from raw pork liver sausage, France. Emerg Infect Dis [Internet]. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2014 Nov;20(11):1945–7. Available from: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25340356
- 52. Wilhelm B, Fazil A, Rajić A, Houde A, McEwen SA. Risk Profile of Hepatitis E Virus from Pigs or Pork in Canada. Transbound Emerg Dis. 2017;64(6):1694–708.
- 53. Mykytczuk O, Harlow J, Bidawid S, Corneau N, Nasheri N. Prevalence and Molecular Characterization of the Hepatitis E Virus in Retail Pork Products Marketed in Canada. Food Environ Virol. Springer US; 2017;9(2):208–18.
- 54. Yapa CM, Furlong C, Rosewell A, Ward KA, Adamson S, Shadbolt C, et al. First reported outbreak of locally acquired hepatitis E virus infection in Australia. Med J Aust [Internet]. 2016 Apr 18;204(7):274. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27078603
- 55. Cossaboom CM, Heffron CL, Cao D, Yugo DM, Houk-Miles AE, Lindsay DS, et al. Risk factors and sources of foodborne hepatitis E virus infection in the United States. J Med Virol [Internet]. 2016 Sep;88(9):1641–5. Available from: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26889628
- Salines M, Barnaud E, Andraud M, Eono F, Renson P, Bourry O, et al. Hepatitis E virus chronic infection of swine coinfected with Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus. Vet Res [Internet]. 2015 Dec 6 [cited 2019 May 7];46(1):55. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26048774
- 57. Salines M, Andraud M, Rose N. From the epidemiology of hepatitis E virus (HEV) within the swine reservoir to public health risk mitigation strategies: a comprehensive review. Vet Res [Internet]. 2017 Dec 25;48(1):31. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28545558
- 58. Aggarwal R, Jameel S. Hepatitis E. Hepatology [Internet]. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2011 Dec 1;54(6):2218–26. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/hep.24674
- 59. Walsh SR. Hepatitis E. In: Bennett, J.E.; Dolin, R.; Blaser MJ, editor. Mandell, Douglas, and Bennett's principles and practice of infectious diseases. Eighth. Phliadelphia, P.A.: Elsevier Saunders; 2015. p. 2131–41.